CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, LTD. 520 SOUTH 4TH STREET | SECOND FLOOR LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89101 Tel. 702.384-5563 | Fax. 702.974-0623

1	IN THE SUPREME COURT	OF THE STATE OF NEVADA				
2	****					
3	CLEMON HUDSON,	S.C. CASE NO. 82231				
4	Appellant,	Electronically Filed Aug 06 2021 05:23 p.m.				
5	VS.	Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court				
6	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	Clork of Captolilo Court				
7	Respondent.					
8						
9		OF CONVICTION PURSUANT				
10	FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CO	ND DENIAL OF PETITION ORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) ORT COURT THE HONORARIE				
11		CT COURT THE HONORABLE ERNY, PRESIDING				
12						
13		X TO THE OPENING BRIEF JME II

9 10	Л	TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS RE: URY TRIAL - DAY 5 APRIL 20, 2018 FILED SEPTEMBER 25, 2018)	949-1084
r. Floor 0623	11 12	Л	TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS RE: URY TRIAL - DAY 6 APRIL 23, 2018 FILED SEPTEMBER 25, 2018)	1085-1212
HRISTOPHER R. ORAM, LTD UUTH 4 TH STREET SECOND LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89101 '02.384-5563 FAX. 702.974	13 14	Л	TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS RE: URY TRIAL - DAY 7 APRIL 24, 2018 FILED SEPTEMBER 25, 2018)	1213-1364
CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, LTD. 20 SOUTH 4 TH STREET SECOND FLOOR LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89101 TEL. 702.384-5563 FAX. 702.974-0623	15 16	Л	TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS RE: URY TRIAL - DAY 8 APRIL 25, 2018 FILED SEPTEMBER 25, 2018)	1365-1388
520 SG TEL.	17 18	Л	TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS RE: URY TRIAL - DAY 9 APRIL 26, 2018 FILED SEPTEMBER 25, 2018)	1389-1520
	19 20	Л	CRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS RE: URY TRIAL - DAY 10 APRIL 27, 2018 FILED SEPTEMBER 25, 2018)	1521-1534
	21 22		/ERDICT FILED APRIL 27, 2018)	1588-1589
	23			
	24			
	2526			
	27			
	28			

CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, LTD. 520 SOUTH 4TH STREET | SECOND FLOOR LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89101 Tel. 702.384-5563 | Fax. 702.974-0623

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify and affirm that this document was filed electronically with the Nevada
Supreme Court on 6 th August, 2021. Electronic Service of the foregoing document shall be made
in accordance with the Master Service List as follows:

AARON FORD Nevada Attorney General

CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE

CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ.

BY:

/s/ Nancy Medina
An Employee of Christopher R. Oram, Esq.

				Electronically Filed 8/28/2017 7:35 AM Steven D. Grierson
1	MOT CRAIG A. MUELLER, ESQ.			CLERK OF THE COURT
2	Nevada Bar No. 4703			
3	MUELLER HINDS & ASSOCIATES, CHTD 600 S. Eighth St.			
4	Las Vegas, NV 89101 Tel (702) 940-1234			
5	Fax (702) 940-1235			
6	cmueller@muellerhinds.com			
7	EIGHTH JUDIC	IAL D	STRICT COURT	
8	CLARK CO	DUNT	, NEVADA	
9	STATE OF NEVADA,	1		
10)	CASE NO.: C-15-30	9578-2
11	Plaintiff,)	DEPT. NO.: XVIII	
12	VS.)	MOTION TO SEVI	ER; NOTICE
13	CLEMON HUDSON,)		
14	Defendants.)		
15)		
16 17	COMES NOW, CLEMON HUDSON, by	v and th	rough his attorney Cra	aio A Mueller Esa of the
18	law firm Mueller Hinds & Associates, hereby m			
19	two separate cases. This motion is made based			
20	arguments made at the time of the hearing of this			A Contract C
21	DATED this 23 rd August, 2017.			
22			(')	
23	_			
24			MUELLER, ESQ. ar No: 4703	
25				
26				
27				
28				

-1-

NOTICE OF MOTION

THE STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff, TO:

YOU AND EACH OF YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the above and foregoing MOTION will be heard before the above entitled Court on the 7th day of September 2016, at 9:00 a.m., or as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard.

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

According to the police report, on September 4, 2015 Eric Clarkson heard a noise and saw an unknown subject on his patio, got out of bed, got his cell phone and woke up his roommate, Willoughby Grimaldi, and called 9-11. Ultimately, police officers Robertson and Greco-Smith arrived, saw Steven Turner and Clemon Hudson, on the patio. Officers took a position, unlocked the door when Turner fired an AK47 rifle striking Officer Robertson in the leg, and Clemon Hudson allegedly fired one shot from the shotgun into the doorway missing the officers.

Turner fled but was seen limping and jaywalking nearby where a person stop was conducted. The officers interviewed Turner who identified his friend Clemon Hudson, AKA "Mar," as the person who he was with when they planned to go to someone's house to "steal their weed" on Westcliff and Rainbow. After changing his story a couple of times, Turner stated he waited in a car while "Mar" grabbed a SKS rifle and shotgun and jumped in the backyard of the house. Turner thought Mar was taking too long so he jumped over the fence too. Turner claims that "Mar" walked toward the glass patio door, that he saw the door open and "Mar" started to shoot.

II. APPLICABLE LAW

Section 173.135 of the Nevada Revised Statutes provides:

Two or more defendants may be charged in the same indictment or information if they are alleged to have participated in the same act or transaction or in the same series of acts or transactions constituting an offense or offenses. Such defendants may be charged in or or more counts together or separately and all of the defendants need not be charged in each count.

Under section 174.165 of the Nevada Revised Statutes:

If it appears that a defendant or the State of Nevada is prejudiced by a joinder of offenses or
of defendants in an indictment or information, or by such joinder for trial together, the court
may order an election or separate trials of counts, grant a severance of defendants or
provide whatever other relief justice requires.

 2. In ruling on a motion by a defendant for severance the court may order the district attorney to deliver to the court for inspection in chambers any statements or confessions made by the defendants which the State intends to introduce in evidence at trial.

Of course, the ability to join defendants is not unlimited. The Confrontation Clause in the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides the right to confront and cross-examine the accuser in a criminal case. See Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 135-37 (1968). That right is violated where a non-testifying codefendant makes a confession that incriminates the defendant. See Romero v. State, 2016 Nev. LEXIS 512, 9, 2016 WL 3257826, Nev. SC No. 67731 (filed June 10, 2016) citing Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123 (1968).

The party seeking severance bears the burden of proof of prejudice and such a case must be severed "if there is a serious risk that [it] would compromise a specific trial right of one of the defendants, or prevent the jury from making a reliable judgment about guilty or innocence." See Rimer v. State, 351 P.3d 697, 711 (Nev. 2015), citing Marshall v. State, 118 Nev. 642, 647 (2002) (quoting Zafiro v. United States, 506 U.S. 534, 539 (1993)). Another way to state the law was also provided in Rimer: "To require severance, the defendant must demonstrate that a joint trial would manifestly prejudicial. The simultaneous trial of the offenses must render the trial fundamentally unfair, and hence, result in the violation of due process." See Rimer v. State, 351 P.3d 697, 710-11 (Nev. 2015), citing Honeycutt v. State, 118 Nev. 660 (2002), overruled on other grounds by Carter v. State, 121 Nev. 759, 765 (2005).

III. ANALYSIS

The case must be severed under <u>Bruton</u>. The State intends to introduce the statements of a non-testifying defendant Steven Turner, the codefendant in this case, against Clemon Hudson by the alias "Mar" that tend to implicate Hudson. Because Hudson will not have the ability to confront and cross-examine Turner, his rights under the Confrontation Clause would be violated by the introduction of these statements. This would render the trial fundamentally unfair and result in a violation of due process. Therefore, the case must be severed.

IV. **CONCLUSION**

We pray that the defendants in this case be severed into two separate cases.

CRAIG A. MUELLER, ESQ. Nevada Bar No: 4703

-5-