IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

 
   

 

 

CLEMON HUDSON, 

  Appellant, 

v. 

THE STATE OF NEVADA,  

  Respondent. 

  

 

 

Case No.   82231 

 

  

RESPONDENT’S ANSWERING BRIEF 

 
Appeal from Judgment of Conviction 

Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County 
 

ROUTING STATEMENT  

Under the Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 17(b), the Supreme Court may 

assign this case to the Court of Appeals.

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

neutral pronoun. Id. at 211 n. 5.  

Where a confession is not incriminating on its face but only becomes so when 

linked with other introduced evidence, Bruton is not implicated. Id. at 208-09, 107 

S.Ct. at 1708. Appellant’s cited case agrees: “evidentiary linkage or contextual 
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implication may not be utilized to convert a non-Bruton admissible statement into a 

Bruton inadmissible statement.” Vazquez v. Wilson, 550 F.3d 270, 278 (3d Cir. 

2008). Redaction alone, however, cannot be a cure-all if the contested statement is 

the primary evidence against the defendant. Vazquez at 283 (noting that Vazquez 

never confessed and only his co-defendant’s statement “directly identified Vazquez 

as the shooter.”).  

In Lisle, a witness described the testimony of a defendant in which he said he 

saw “the other guy” shoot the victim. Lisle, 113 Nev. at 692, 941 P.2d at 468. Despite 

testimony introduced earlier that the two defendants shared a group nickname (“Los 

Vatos”) and the victim was with Los Vatos immediately before his death, this 

statement did not prejudice Lisle because it was only incriminatory in context with 

the rest of the evidence at trial. Id. (citing Richardson, 481 U.S. 200). 

In Jones, this Court found that joinder did not prejudice the defendant because 

he and his co-defendant each admitted to being at the scene. Jones, 111 Nev. at 854, 

899 P.2d at 547. Testimony introduced at trial showed each defendant proclaimed 

his innocence and neither admitted seeing the other commit the crimes. Id. Based on 

these similarities, their defenses did not conflict. Id.  

Here, Turner’s defense theory appeared to revolve around the presence of a 

“third guy” who might have actually been responsible. 9 AA 1473-74. Turner’s 

statements could have logically implicated this other person as easily as they did 
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Appellant. The statements Appellant objects to must be read in context with the rest 

of the evidence introduced at trial in order to be incriminatory. 

For example, Appellant states the introduction of his statements immediately 

followed an identification of Turner. AOB at 21. Appellant does not contest, 

however, that his statement can be used against himself, so the jury had no occasion 

to “disregard the statement in assessing Appellant’s guilt.” AOB at 22. Appellant 

does not have standing to assert Turner’s Confrontation Clause rights, but since 

Appellant’s statements are only incriminatory in context, Turner would lose on this 

issue as well. See Lisle, 113 Nev. at 692, 941 P.2d at 468.  

Turning to his co-defendant’s statements, Appellant complains that this 

statement revealed that someone picked up Turner to go rob a house, there was a 

shotgun in the car, the person he was with hopped over a wall, and no third person 

was there. AOB at 23. Appellant argues that the prosecutor made logical inferences 

from these statements, including that there was no third person, Appellant brought 

the shotgun bearing his fingerprints, and there were “two guns fired, two people.” 

AOB at 24. As in Lisle, the identity of “the other guy” is context-dependent. It is 

only within the context of the other evidence introduced at trial that Turner’s 

statements implicate Appellant and therefore the statements are not a violation of 

Bruton. See Lisle, 113 Nev. at 692, 941 P.2d at 468.  
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Appellant complains that Turner’s counsel argued that Appellant was the one 

who picked him up. Turner’s counsel is also allowed to make logical inferences from 

the evidence presented. Turner’s counsel’s argued to the jury that someone other 

than Appellant or Turner could be responsible: “And then it comes down to this: The 

State can't prove there were only two people. … I put to you that the State argues 

that there were only two people, because those are the only people that were seen by 

the officers.” 9 AA 1473-74. This argument by Turner’s counsel reinforced the 

defense theory that someone else fired at the officer, but it also diluted the inference 

that Appellant, not some other guy, was the person referred to in Turner’s statement.  

The record reveals that Appellant’s and Turner’s defense theories were not 

antagonistic to each other. Appellant’s counsel conceded in his closing statement 

that Appellant was there to steal weed and that he had a shotgun. 9 AA 1491. Counsel 

also argued  Appellant lacked the intent necessary for attempted murder. 9 AA 1491. 

Counsel argued the shotgun fired because Appellant was startled that someone in a 

supposedly empty house opened the door, and a piece of shrapnel struck the shotgun, 

which only contained birdshot. 9 AA 1484-87. Counsel argued Appellant lay down 

like a scared child, and “[i]f he had murder on the brain, he would have fought.” 9 

AA 1488-89.  
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Turner’s statements suggesting he was at the crime scene with another guy 

did not impede Appellant’s defense theory that he never had the specific intent to 

commit a murder.  

The district court properly refused to sever the trial because Appellant failed 

to meet the stringent criteria for demonstrating a need for severance under NRS 

174.165. The redactions, combined with the substantial other evidence introduced at 

trial, supported the jury’s verdict. As in Jones, Appellant and Turner each admitted 

in their statements to the police that they were at the time and place of the crimes 

and that they arrived there together. 7 AA 1149, 1170, 1185. Through careful 

redactions, neither admitted to observing the other commit the crimes.  

Turner’s defense, that some other person shot the officer, and Appellant’s, 

that he never intended to commit murder, are not so conflicting and irreconcilable 

that the jury could infer guilt based only on the conflicts in their defenses. Rather, 

like Jones, Appellant was convicted, not because he was tried with Turner, but 

because the State presented overwhelming evidence of his guilt. There were shotgun 

pellets fired at the home. 4 AA 730; 5 AA 0838-39; 6 AA 0963. Appellant was found 

in the backyard with three guns and a cap. 5 AA 0861-64. Appellant’s DNA was 

found on the cap and his latent prints were found on the shotgun. 7 AA 1108, 1127. 

Appellant’s DNA was also found on the public sidewalk, the patio table, and the 

backyard walkway. 7 AA 1130-31. 
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In his statements to police, Appellant admitted that he went to the house to 

rob it. 7 AA 1149, 1170. He was carrying a shotgun. 7 AA 1150-51. The car at the 

scene belonged to his mother. 7 AA 1157. No one was involved except one other 

person, and between them they had a rifle and a shotgun. 7 AA 1157-59. He also 

had a handgun. 7 AA 1162-63. He fired at least one round at the officers. 7 AA 1162-

63. These are the incriminating portions of Appellant’s statements that were 

admitted.  

These statements would prove much more incriminating to Appellant than the 

redacted portions of Turner’s statements, rendering any alleged error harmless. “[A] 

defendant's own statements may be considered in assessing whether a Bruton error, 

if any, was harmless.” Rodriguez v. State, 117 Nev. 800, 809, 32 P.3d 773, 779 

(2001). Any connection the jury might have made between Turner and Appellant 

based on Turner’s redacted statements was likely based on the fact that 

overwhelming evidence, apart from Turner’s statements, was introduced at trial, 

proving that Appellant and Turner committed the charged offenses.  

II. THE STATE DID NOT ENGAGE IN PROSECUTORIAL 
MISCONDUCT 

When considering claims of prosecutorial misconduct, the court engages in a 

two-step analysis. Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188-89, 196 P.3d 465, 476-77 

(2008). First, the court determines whether the prosecutor’s conduct was improper. 

Id. Second, if the conduct was improper, the court determines whether it warrants 
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reversal. Id. The court will not reverse a conviction based on prosecutorial 

misconduct if it was harmless error. Id. If the error is of constitutional dimension, 

the State must demonstrate, beyond a reasonable doubt, the error did not contribute 

to the verdict. If the error is not of constitutional dimension, reversal is appropriate 

only if the error substantially affects the jury's verdict. Id.  

In addition, harmless-error review applies only if the defendant preserved the 

error for appellate review. “[T]o preserve a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, the 

defendant must object to the misconduct at trial because this ‘allow[s] the district 

court to rule upon the objection, admonish the prosecutor, and instruct the jury.” Id. 

at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477 (internal citations omitted). Otherwise the comments are 

subject to plain error review. Plain means obvious from a casual review of the record. 

Patterson v. State, 111 Nev. 1525, 1530, 907 P.2d 984, 987 (1995). The issue must 

be clear error under current law. Gaxiola v. State, 121 Nev. 638, 648, 119 P.3d 1224, 

1232 (2005).  

A prosecutor’s comments should be considered in context, and a criminal 

conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's comments 

standing alone.” Leonard v. State, 117 Nev. 53, 81, 17 P.3d 397, 414 (2001). Review 

of alleged prosecutorial misconduct requires consideration of the nature of the 

evidence presented against the defendant. Smith v. State, 120 Nev. 944, 947-948, 

102 P.3d 569, 572 (2004). Statements construed by the defense as inflammatory 
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mischaracterizations will not be deemed prosecutorial misconduct where the 

statements are supported by evidence adduced at trial. Rose v. State, 123 Nev. 24, 

163 P.3d 408 (2007). Moreover, where evidence of guilt is overwhelming, even 

aggravated prosecutorial misconduct may constitute harmless error. King v. State, 

116 Nev. 349, 356, 998 P.2d 1172, 1176 (2000).  

A. “Feeling Good” About Conviction 

Appellant did not object to the prosecutor’s comment about feeling good 

about convicting someone who shot a police officer. 9 AA 1499. Therefore, this 

Court evaluates the comment for plain error. Patterson, 111 Nev. at 1530, 907 P.2d 

at 987. The State acknowledges that this Court has already determined  that this 

comment was improper. Turner v. State, 136 Nev. __, __, 473 P.3d 438, 449 (2020).  

However, this comment does not warrant reversal in light of the substantial 

evidence of Appellant’s guilt. Given the overwhelming evidence against Appellant, 

he has failed to demonstrate that this comment substantially affected the jury’s 

verdict. This Court reached the same conclusion in Turner. 136 Nev. at __, 473 P.3d 

at 450. See also Smith, 120 Nev. at 947-948, 102 P.3d at 572. 

B. “More Crimes Were Possible” 

Again, the State acknowledges that this Court has already determined that his 

comment was improper. 136 Nev. at __, 473 P.3d 449. However, this error was 

harmless and therefore does not warrant reversal. Valdez, 124 Nev. at 1188-89, 196 
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P.3d at 476-77. Given the substantial evidence of Appellant’s guilt admitted at trial, 

including Appellant’s own admissions,  reversal is clearly not warranted. This Court 

reached the same conclusion in Turner. 136 Nev. at __, 473 P.3d at 450. See also 

Smith, 120 Nev. at 947-948, 102 P.3d at 572. 

C. “That’s the Truth” and “That’s the Reality of It” 

The remarks Appellant objects to next in his brief are not improper. AOB at 

29. The prosecutor stated it does not matter who the defendants tried to kill, it is still 

attempted murder. 9 AA 1510. They underscored this legal definition of attempted 

murder by saying “that’s the truth,” “the reality,” and “[t]hat’s all that matters.” 

These statements are not of the prosecutor’s personal belief as to Appellant’s 

guilt. AOB at 29. Rather, they were permissible argument that the evidence proved 

Appellant’s guilt. “Statements by the prosecutor, in argument, indicative of his 

opinion, belief, or knowledge as to the guilt of the accused, when made as a 

deduction or conclusion from the evidence introduced in the trial, are permissible 

and unobjectionable.” Domingues v. State, 112 Nev. 683, 696, 917 P.2d 1364, 1373 

(1996) (citing Collins v. State, 87 Nev. 436, 439, 488 P.2d 544, 545 (1971).  

Appellant did not object to the prosecutor’s comments about the nature of 

attempted murder and transferred intent at trial. 9 AA 1510. Therefore, this Court 

evaluates the comment for plain error. Patterson, 111 Nev. at 1530, 907 P.2d at 987. 
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Since this is a correct statement of the law of attempted murder, the prosecutor’s 

underscoring the point cannot be improper.  

Appellant offers no other definition for attempted murder. The State argued, 

based on the evidence admitted at trial, that the defendants attempted two counts of 

attempted murder as defined by the law when they fired at the people standing in the 

doorway of the victims’ home. This is clearly permissible. Domingues, 112 Nev. at 

696, 917 P.2d at 1373. 

Even viewed cumulatively, the Turner Court did not find the comments 

warranted reversal. Turner, at 62, 473 P.3d at 450.  The prosecutor’s comments “did 

not infect the trial with unfairness so as to affect the verdict and deny [appellant] his 

constitutional right to a fair trial.”). Valdez, 124 Nev. at 1195, 196 P.3d at 480. His 

criminal conviction should not be overturned. Leonard, 117 Nev. at 81, 17 P.3d at 

414.  

III. THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS CORRECTLY RECITED NEVADA 
LAW  

Appellant next challenges specific jury instructions issued in his case. AOB 

at 30.  

“District courts have broad discretion to settle jury instructions.” Cortinas v. 

State, 124 Nev. 1013, 1019, 195 P.3d 315, 319 (2008) (citing Crawford v. State, 121 

Nev. 744, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2005)). The decision to refuse a proposed 

instruction is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Id. Whether a particular jury 
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instruction correctly states the law is reviewed de novo. Id. Claims on appeal 

regarding jury instructions are weighed using a harmless-error analysis. Barnier v. 

State, 119 Nev. 129, 132, 67 P.3d 320, 322 (2003).  

To evaluate whether a jury instruction violates due process, a reviewing court 

determines if “the ailing instruction by itself so infected the entire trial that the 

resulting conviction violates due process.” Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62, 72–73, 

112 S. Ct. 475, 482 (1991) (quoting Cupp v. Naughten, 414 U.S. 141, 147, 94 S.Ct. 

396, 400–01 (1973)). “It is well established that the instruction ‘may not be judged 

in artificial isolation,’ but must be considered in the context of the instructions as a 

whole and the trial record.” Id. “[T]he proper inquiry is not whether the instruction 

“could have” been applied unconstitutionally, but whether there is a reasonable 

likelihood that the jury did so apply it.” Victor v. Nebraska, 511 U.S. 1, 1–2, 114 S. 

Ct. 1239, 1241 (1994) (citing Estelle). 

A. Jury Instruction No. 29  
Jury Instruction No. 29 stated: 

During an attack upon a group, a defendant’s intent to kill need not be 
directed at any one individual. It is enough if the intent to kill is directed 
at the group. The State is not required to prove that a Defendant 
intended to kill a specific person in the group. 
 

9 AA 1566. The preceding instruction, No. 28, stated:  
 

If you believe that at the time of the shooting in this case a defendant 
intended to kill any person, or to aid and abet his co-defendant with the 
deliberate intention to unlawfully kill any person, it is of no legal 



 

I:\APPELLATE\WPDOCS\SECRETARY\BRIEFS\ANSWER & FASTRACK\2021 ANSWER\HUDSON, CLEMON, 82231, RESP'S ANS. 

BRIEF.DOCX 

26

consequence that he or his co-defendant mistakenly injured a different 
person. His intent to kill transfers to the person actually harmed. 

 
9 AA 1565.  

 
Read together, these instructions allowed the jury to find Appellant guilty of 

attempted murder when he shot at the people in the open doorway of the home. 

Whether he thought he would kill the homeowners instead of the police was 

addressed in Jury Instruction No. 28. Whether he shot at a group of people and did 

not care who he killed was addressed in Jury Instruction No. 29. Both are accurate 

expressions of Nevada law and are supported by the facts in this case. The instruction 

on group transferred intent comes from Ewell v. State, 105 Nev. 897, 899, 785 P.2d 

1028, 1029 (1989). Ewell stands for the proposition that the State is not required to 

prove Appellant intended to kill a specific member of a group when he fired at the 

group. Id.  

Whether the group entailed the two officers alone or included the two 

homeowners who were very close to the bullets being fired, a group was in fact being 

fired upon. 4 AA 0731. Two officers alone comprise a group. Dictionary.com 

defines a group as “any collection or assemblage of persons or things.” The second 

definition is more specific: “a number of persons or things ranged or considered 

together as being related in some way.” The two officers were grouped in the 

doorway; they were part of the larger group of four people near the back door. They 

related to each other as fellow officers or fellow persons under fire. There is no 
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logical or legal basis for failing to apply Ewell to the facts here. The assertion that a 

“large” group must be assembled is unsupported in the law or in common 

understanding of the term. 9 AA 1413.  

A shooter can be accused of attempted murder when he fires at people without 

wishing a particular one dead, or even without identifying who exactly he is aiming 

at. Here, the jury did not need to puzzle over whether Appellant desired the death of 

Officer Richardson, Officer Grego-Smith, Mr. Clarkson, or Mr. Grimaldi. It sufficed 

that Appellant fired a shotgun at all four men. The State argued, and the district court 

considered, that the homeowners were also there, together with the officers. 9 AA 

1414. The court recalled that the homeowners testified the bullets whizzed past them. 

9 AA 1414-15. The district court evaluated and properly dismissed Appellant’s 

objection. 9 AA 1414.  

That Ewell concerned a drive-by shooting and the case at bar involved 

Appellant in a backyard firing a shotgun at whoever opened the door is immaterial. 

AOB at 31-32. Appellant does not even explain why this fact should undermine the 

applicability of Ewell, nor can it, since riding in a car is not an element of attempted 

murder.  

As in Ewell, the contested jury instruction did not relieving prosecution of its 

duty to prove the elements of attempted murder and Appellant had proper notice of 

the charges he had to defend against.  
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B. Jury Instruction No. 38  
Jury Instruction No. 38 stated: 

The flight of a person immediately after the commission of a crime, or 
after he is accused of a crime, is not sufficient in itself to establish his 
guilt, but is a fact which, if proved, may be considered by you in light 
of all other proved facts in deciding the question of his guilt or 
innocence. The essence of flight embodies the idea of deliberately 
going away with consciousness of guilt and for the purpose of avoiding 
apprehension or prosecution. Whether or not evidence of flight shows 
a consciousness of guilt and the significance to be attached to such a 
circumstance are matters for your deliberation 
 

9 AA 1575.  

The jury was entitled to be instructed on flight because Appellant’s co-

defendant fled. 7 AA 1189, 1196-97, 1200. Since Appellant was arrested right in the 

backyard of the house he planned to burgle, the jury could not reasonably have 

applied this instruction to him. 5 AA 0923.  

Appellant asked for no limiting instruction and made no objection to the 

instruction, so the giving of this instruction is reviewed for plain error. Contrary to 

Appellant’s contention, an instruction on flight does not inherently wield undue 

influence. AOB at 31-32. In his cited case, Weber v. State, 121 Nev. 554, 119 P.3d 

107 (2005), a significant amount of time passed between the crime and the arrest. 

Id. at 582, 119 P.3d at 126. Weber contended that this time gap was due to police 

inefficiency, not his own efforts at evading the police. Id. If true, an instruction on 

flight could have prejudiced the jury, so the Court carefully scrutinized the record. 
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The Court concluded ample evidence showed he evaded the police so the instruction 

was warranted. Id.  

Appellant cites Guy v. State, 108 Nev. 770, 839 P.2d 578 (1992), which is 

also inapplicable. In Guy, the criminal did not flee until thirteen days after the 

murder, and had many reasons for fleeing at that time independent of the crime 

charged. Id. at 777, 839 P.2d at 583. The flight instruction was incorrectly given 

because it implied guilt for one crime even though the fleeing involved guilt of 

another. Id. The Court held the error was harmless, though. Id.  

Miles v. State, 97 Nev. 82, 624 P.2d 494 (1981) is also inapplicable here. In 

Miles, this Court examined the record to ensure a flight instruction was appropriate, 

because to do otherwise might allow that instruction to emphasize one part of the 

evidence over another. Id. at 85, 624 P.2d at 496. The Court wanted “to be certain 

that the record supports the conclusion that appellant's going away was not just a 

mere leaving but was with a consciousness of guilt and for the purpose of avoiding 

arrest.” Id.  

Here, unlike in Weber, there is no evidence that a significant amount of time 

passed between crime and arrest. The flight instruction was not used to explain the 

time between the two events. Unlike in Guy, a flight instruction would not cause the 

jury to infer Appellant’s guilt based on his flight from a different crime. Unlike in 

Miles, Appellant did not go away at all, so the jury could not misinterpret his doing 
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so. No jury prejudice could result from a flight instruction where no evidence of 

flight on Appellant’s part existed.  

Appellant points to no evidence that the jury improperly imputed this flight 

instruction to his behavior. He cites to no part of the record that could in any way 

have confused the jury when combined with the flight instruction. Reviewing this 

instruction for plain error, Appellant’s contentions are subject to summary dismissal. 

“’Bare’ and ‘naked’ allegations are not sufficient to warrant post-conviction relief.” 

Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). 

C. Jury Instruction No. 40  
Jury Instruction No. 40 stated: 

The Defendant is presumed innocent unless the contrary is 
proved. This presumption places upon the State the burden of proving 
beyond a reasonable doubt every element of the crime charged and that 
the Defendant is the person who committed the offense. 

A reasonable doubt is one based on reason. It is not mere possible 
doubt but is such a doubt as would govern or control a person in the 
more weighty affairs of life. If the minds of the jurors, after the entire 
comparison and consideration of all the evidence, are in such a 
condition that they can say they feel an abiding conviction of the truth 
of the charge, there is not a reasonable doubt. Doubt to be reasonable 
must be actual, not mere possibility or speculation. 

If you have a reasonable doubt as to the guilt of the Defendant, 
he is entitled to a verdict of not guilty. 
 

9 AA 1577. This instruction is not only a correct statement of Nevada law, but also 

is statutorily required. NRS 175.211(2). The second paragraph of the instruction 

comes verbatim from NRS 175.211(1). Because Appellant did not object to this 

instruction at trial, this Court reviews the instruction for plain error. NRS 178.602. 



 

I:\APPELLATE\WPDOCS\SECRETARY\BRIEFS\ANSWER & FASTRACK\2021 ANSWER\HUDSON, CLEMON, 82231, RESP'S ANS. 

BRIEF.DOCX 

31

The Nevada Supreme Court has upheld this exact instruction on many 

occasions and for many years. See, e.g., Cutler v. State, 93 Nev. 329, 336-37, 566 

P.2d 809, 813-14 (1977); Bollinger v. State, 111 Nev. 1110, 1115 n. 2, 901 P.2d 671, 

674 n. 2 (1995); Middleton v. State, 114 Nev. 1089, 1111–12, 968 P.2d 296, 311 

(1998) (“there was no reasonable likelihood that a jury applied this language 

unconstitutionally where the jury was also instructed concerning the presumption of 

innocence and the state's burden of proof.”); Rodriguez, 117 Nev. at 811, 32 P.3d at 

780 (“We conclude that the district court did not err in giving the mandatory 

statutory instruction on reasonable doubt. This court has upheld the constitutionality 

of the instruction where, as here, the jury received additional instruction on the 

State's burden of proof and the presumption of innocence.”); Belcher v. State, 136 

Nev. 261, 276, 464 P.3d 1013, 1029 (2020) (“we have repeatedly upheld the 

constitutionality of that instruction”).1 The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has also 

found Nevada’s statutory reasonable doubt instruction does not violate due process. 

Ramirez v. Hatcher, 136 F.3d 1209, cert. denied, 525 U.S. 967, 119 S.Ct. 415 (9th 

Cir. 1998).  

Appellant’s cited cases support the Nevada Supreme Court in its finding that 

Nevada’s instruction on reasonable doubt complies with due process. In Victor, the 

 
1The State also notes that under NRAP 17(b)(2)(A), this appeal is presumptively 
assigned to the Court of Appeals, which lacks jurisdiction to overrule the Nevada 
Supreme Court. 
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United States Supreme Court said the challenged instructions, “[t]aken as a whole,” 

raised “no reasonable likelihood that the jurors understood the instructions to allow 

convictions based on [insufficient] proof.” 511 U.S. at 1, 114 S. Ct. at 1241. Justice 

Ginsberg, in her concurrence, agreed, stating trial courts should attempt to define 

reasonable doubt even if they do so imperfectly. Id. at 26, 114 S. Ct. at 1253. Justice 

Ginsberg further noted “the law does not require proof that overcomes every possible 

doubt.” Id. at 27, 114 S. Ct. at 1253.  

The challenged instruction in Victor said reasonable doubt excludes “mere 

possible doubt.” Id. at 2–3, 114 S. Ct. at 1241 (“That the instruction properly uses 

‘possible’ in the sense of fanciful is made clear by the fact that it also notes that 

everything ‘is open to some possible or imaginary doubt.’”). As in Nevada, this 

instruction excludes mere possibility or speculation. Id. at 17, 114 S. Ct. at 1248 (“A 

fanciful doubt is not a reasonable doubt.”).  

Appellant’s reliance on Cage v. Louisiana, 498 U.S. 39, 111 S.Ct. 328 (1990), 

is misplaced, as the United States Supreme Court found it to be the exception to the 

rule supporting states’ definitions. Victor, 511 U.S. at 5, 114 S. Ct. at 1243 (“In only 

one case have we held that a definition of reasonable doubt violated the Due Process 

Clause.”). In Cage, the court required “grave uncertainty,” “actual substantial 

doubt,” and “a moral certainty.” This language is a far cry from Nevada’s.  
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Appellant has failed to offer a compelling reason for the Court to overrule its 

own precedent or to take the task of writing laws away from the legislature. The 

NSC has stated “’[w]e are loath to depart from the doctrine of stare decisis’ and will 

overrule precedent only if there are compelling reasons to do so.” City of Reno v. 

Howard, 130 Nev.110, 113-14, 318 P.3d 1063, 1065 (2014) (quoting Armenta-

Carpio v. State, 129 Nev. 531, 535, 306 P.3d 395, 398 (2013)).  

Under a plain-error standard, it is plain that no error occurred. Not only is Jury 

Instruction No. 40 a correct statement of Nevada law, but it is also the only statement 

on this topic permitted by law. Plainly, there is no error.  

D. Jury Instruction No. 50  

Jury Instruction No. 50 stated: 

Now you will listen to the arguments of counsel who will endeavor to 
aid you to reach a proper verdict by refreshing in your minds the 
evidence and by showing the application thereof to the law; but 
whatever counsel may say, you will bear in mind that it is your duty to 
be governed in your deliberation by the evidence as you understand it 
and remember it to be and by the law as given to you in these 
instructions, with the sole, fixed and steadfast purpose of doing equal 
and exact justice between the Defendant and the State of Nevada. 
 

9 AA 1587.  

Again, because Appellant did not object to this instruction at trial, this Court 

reviews the instruction for plain error. NRS 178.602. 

Appellant complains that by telling the jury to apply “equal and exact justice 

between the Defendant and the State of Nevada,” the jury could conceivably have 
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ignored the presumption of innocence. AOB at 38. This instruction, however, does

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